2000

# Utah v. Jose Mario Jimenez : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

**JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT**

The Court of Appeals has jurisdiction in this matter pursuant to Utah Code Ann. § 78-2a-3(2)(e) (1996), whereby the defendant in a district court criminal action may take an appeal to the Court of Appeals from a final order for anything other than a first degree or capital felony offense. Appellant Jose Mario Jimenez ("Jimenez") was convicted of manslaughter with a firearm enhancement, a second degree felony offense in violation of Utah Code Ann. § 76-5-205 (1995), and two counts of attempted manslaughter with firearm enhancements, both third degree felony offenses in violation of Utah Code Ann. §§ 76-5-205 and 76-4-101 (1995). A copy of each judgment is attached hereto as Addendum A.

**STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES AND STANDARDS OF REVIEW**

The issues presented for review are as follows:

1. Whether the trial court erred in failing to grant a motion for a mistrial/new trial in connection with improper statements and suggestions made by the prosecutor during

cross-examination of defense witnesses.

Standard of Review: "[I]f a trial court has applied the correct legal standard, it has broad discretion in granting or denying a motion for a new trial." State v. Martin, 1999 UT 72, ¶5, 984 P.2d 975. In determining whether a prosecutor's deliberate misconduct constituted an abuse of discretion and deprived a defendant of a fair trial sufficient to warrant a new trial, this Court will apply a two-part test:

[The test examines whether] "[1] [t]he actions or remarks of [the prosecutor] call to the attention of the jury a matter it would not be justified in considering in determining its verdict and, [2] if so, under the circumstances of the particular case, whether the error is substantial and prejudicial such that there is a reasonable likelihood that, in its absence, there would have been a more favorable result" [for the defendant].

State v. Basta, 966 P.2d 260, 268 (Utah App. 1998) (quoting State v. Tenney, 913 P.2d 750, 754 (Utah App.), cert. denied, 923 P.2d 693 (Utah 1996)); State v. Troy, 688 P.2d 483, 486 (Utah 1984); see also State v. Kohl, 2000 UT 35, ¶22, 392 Utah Adv. Rep. 3.

2. Whether the trial court erred in failing to grant a mistrial/new trial in connection with improper statements made by the prosecutor during closing argument.

Standard of Review: See the standard of review set forth above.

3. Whether the cumulative effect of the errors in the case denied Jimenez a fair trial.

Standard of Review: Reversal is appropriate if the cumulative effect of the several errors undermines confidence that a fair trial was had. State v. Dunn, 850 P.2d 1201,

1229 (Utah 1993). In assessing cumulative error, this Court considers all the identified errors as well as errors this Court assumes may have occurred. Id.

### **PRESERVATION OF ARGUMENT**

The first issue is preserved in the record on appeal ("R.") at 343:369; 344:403, 444, 450-59. The second issue is preserved at R. 345:659, 667, 701. The third issue concerning cumulative error is reviewed on direct appeal where the record is adequate. See e.g. Dunn, 850 P.2d at 1229.

### **RULES, STATUTES AND CONSTITUTIONAL PROVISIONS**

The following rule will be determinative of the issues on appeal: Utah R. Crim. P. 24 (2000). The text of that provision is attached hereto as Addendum B.

### **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

#### **Nature of the Case, Course of Proceedings, Disposition in the Court Below.**

On July 29, 1998, the state filed an amended Information against Jimenez, charging him with one count of murder, a first degree felony offense, and two counts of attempted murder, second degree felony offenses, in violation of Utah Code Ann. §§ 76-5-203 (Supp. 1996) and 76-4-101 (1995). (R. 4-6.) The charges stemmed from an incident that occurred on or about October 20, 1996. After the preliminary hearing (see R. 48), the case was bound over for trial.

On September 13, 1999, a four-day jury trial commenced. (See R. 342-345.) At the conclusion of trial, the jury found Jimenez guilty of one count of manslaughter and

two counts of attempted manslaughter. The jury also found Jimenez guilty of using a firearm in connection with each count. (R. 282-87.) On November 29, 1999, the judge sentenced Jimenez to an indeterminate prison term for each offense. (R. 308, 311, 314.) Jimenez filed a timely notice of appeal. (R. 321.)

### **STATEMENT OF FACTS**

#### **A. THE STATE'S EVIDENCE.**

The state presented evidence at trial as follows:

##### **Police Responded to a Shooting at a 7-11 Convenience Store.**

On October 20, 1996, police responded to a shooting at a 7-11 convenience store at 4100 South Redwood Road. (R. 343:201, 216; see also 343:227, 304.) Henry David Miera ("Miera") had been shot. Two other individuals, Anthony Montoya ("Montoya") and Manuel Rios ("Rios"), claimed the suspect shooter fired a weapon at them as well. A convenience store security camera recorded most of the incident on tape and was secured by police as evidence. (R. 343:310-11.)

##### **The 7-11 Video Was Played at Trial.**

The video, played in its entirety at trial (R. 343:231), showed Rios, Miera and Montoya pulling up to the 7-11 in a white car. Rios got out of the car and entered the store to use the restroom. (R. 343:232.) A couple minutes later, a male -- later identified as Jimenez -- and his wife Monica pulled up in a black car and stepped out of the vehicle. Jimenez walked up to the white car while Monica went into the store. (R. 343:233-34.)

As Rios walked out of the store, he observed Jimenez in a confrontation with Montoya. (See R. 343:234-35, 275; 344:436.) Montoya was standing outside the white car, while Miera was sitting in the driver's seat. (R. 343:234-35, 275; 344:434.)

Rios walked up to Jimenez and asked whether he "had a problem." (R. 343:234-35.) Jimenez responded with the same question as Montoya walked around the car toward Jimenez. (R. 343:235.) According to Rios, the expression, "you got a problem," means "[do you] want to fight or something." (R. 343:243-44.)

Thereafter, Rios punched Jimenez "[p]retty good[.]" (R. 343:235-36.) According to Rios, he hit Jimenez because he was "going for something in the front of his pants[.]" (R. 343:236, 276, 278.) Other evidence presented by the state supported that Jimenez was not "going for something"; rather, Rios punched Jimenez without justification. (See R. 343:280 (Rios testified in earlier proceedings that the first time he observed the gun was after he hit Jimenez) 343:197, State's Exhibit 3 (interview with television reporter where Montoya disclosed that he and Rios contemplated punching Jimenez before they learned he had a gun); Defendant's Exhibit 3-A (transcript of interview between Montoya and television reporter).)

Rios testified that he was much bigger than Jimenez, and he was a boxer. (R. 343:245-46.) According to Rios, he was not the kind of person who would "back down" during a verbal confrontation. (R. 343:246.)

Rios believed the punch was enough to knock Jimenez out. (R. 343:276, 281.)

Consequently, he was surprised to see Jimenez get up from the ground. As Jimenez got to his feet, he pulled a gun from his waistband and began to shoot. (R. 343:236-37.) Rios and Montoya ran for cover and began throwing beer bottles and bundles of firewood at Jimenez. (R. 343:238.)

According to the evidence, Jimenez fired approximately seven rounds. (R. 343:308.) Two shots were fired in the direction of Miera sitting in the car. Additional shots were fired as Montoya and Rios ran across the front of the car and out of the range of the camera. (R. 343:282.) Jimenez also ran out of the range of the camera, then came back and left with Monica in the black car.

When Rios and Montoya returned to the white car, they discovered that Miera had been shot. They pulled him from the car and began to administer mouth-to-mouth resuscitation. (R. 343:241.)

According to a State Witness, Jimenez Admitted to Shooting a Man at the 7-11.

Amber Fabela testified that Jimenez drove to her home that night after the shooting. (R. 343:186.) He was hysterical and claimed that he had "just killed somebody" at a 7-11 convenience store. (R. 343:187-88.) Jimenez denied having made the statement. (R.344:589.)

Miera Died of Two Gunshot Wounds.

The medical examiner testified that Miera died of two gunshot wounds to the chest area. (R. 343:293, 298, 301.) Jimenez was apprehended in 1998 and charged with one

count of murder and two counts of attempted murder. (R. 12-14.)

B. THE DEFENDANT'S EVIDENCE.

The defense presented evidence in this case to support the determination that Jimenez fired the gun in self-defense and to protect his wife, Monica.

Jimenez and Monica Were Confronted by 3 Intoxicated Men and Felt in Danger.

Jimenez testified that when he and Monica pulled in front of the 7-11, they were confronted by three men who were intoxicated and looking for a fight. The men engaged in a verbal confrontation with Jimenez, then Rios punched Jimenez and knocked him to the ground. Jimenez felt threatened; he determined to protect himself and Monica from their attackers. (R. 344:563, 573-74.) Jimenez testified that while he was on the ground, he observed Miera open the car door and point an object at him that appeared to be a weapon. (See R. 344:563-65, 438.) Jimenez pulled a weapon out from under his shirt and began to fire. (R. 344:563.)

Although the Police Did Not Find a Weapon in Miera's Car, the Evidence Supported the Determination that the Police Investigation Was Incomplete.

After the shooting, Jimenez and Monica left the 7-11 store. According to the video, Rios and Montoya did not return to the white car for some time. They were out of the range of the video camera (R. 344:536-37), and it is unknown what they were doing. (R. 344:539.) When Rios and Montoya were back in view of the camera, they returned to the white car and began removing items from it. (R. 344:537.) One item appeared to be



cans of beer; another item was unidentified. (R. 344:538.) Rios and Montoya may have thrown the items into the garbage can. (R. 344:538.)

When officers arrived on the scene, they checked an area near the garbage can for the cans of beer, which they located immediately. Thereafter, the officers discontinued their search of the garbage cans. (R. 343:344-45.)

Jimenez maintains that Rios and Montoya hid the object or weapon that Miera used to threaten Jimenez in the vicinity. Since the officers did not describe their investigative efforts in their reports and did not appear to search the immediate vicinity or garbage cans for a possible weapon (see R. 344:524-25), the state was unable to present compelling evidence to refute the possibility that Rios and Montoya concealed a weapon in the area. (See R. 344:554 (officers investigating scene did not describe areas searched or specify that they searched the garbage cans or that they searched for weapons).)

In addition, the defense presented evidence to support that a routine investigation would have involved a thorough search of the area, including the garbage cans, and a pat-down search of victims and witnesses to determine if they were armed. (R. 344:521, 524, 529-30.) According to the evidence, such an investigation did not occur in this case. (See R. 343:317-342, 344-45; 344:524.)

C. THE JURY ACQUITTED JIMENEZ OF THE CHARGES BROUGHT BY THE STATE AND CONVICTED HIM OF LESSER OFFENSES.

The jury acquitted Jimenez of murder and attempted murder, and convicted him of

manslaughter and attempted manslaughter. (R. 282-87.) Additional facts relating to the issues on appeal are set forth below.

### **SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT**

Prior to the trial in this case, the defense moved to have evidence of Jimenez's alleged, prior bad acts and crimes suppressed. The state stipulated to the motion and the trial judge granted it. Thereafter, in violation of the court's order and in violation of the rules of evidence, the prosecutor interjected improper statements and innuendoes at trial. Specifically, the prosecutor made improper statements and suggestions concerning Jimenez's character, as follows: (a) The prosecutor suggested to the jury that Jimenez used numerous aliases, (b) The prosecutor suggested that Jimenez had a violent history, (c) The prosecutor asserted during Monica's examination that Jimenez's possession of a gun was a crime "in and of itself," thereby suggesting to the jury that it should consider matters that were not properly before it, and (d) The prosecutor asked Monica if she assisted in "concealing" Jimenez from police, again suggesting to the jury that it should consider matters that were not properly before it.

On appeal, Jimenez maintains that the improper statements called the attention of the jurors to matters they were not justified in considering. In addition, under the circumstances of this case, there was a probability that the jurors were influenced by the prosecutor's remarks, resulting in reversible error.

Also, during closing argument, the prosecutor compared Jimenez's appearance at

trial in a suit and tie to the appearance of Rios, a state witness who wore prison clothes and shackles to the trial. The prosecutor argued that the jury could trust Rios because they could trust his appearance; however, they should not trust Jimenez because they could not trust the way he was "packaged." The prosecutor's comments were unfair; he sought to discredit Jimenez because he had exercised his right to attend trial dressed "in the 'garb of innocence.'" State v. Mitchell, 824 P.2d 469, 473 (Utah App. 1991) (recognizing that defendant is entitled to be tried in a suit since that comports with the presumption of innocence). The improper comparison called the attention of jurors to matters they were not justified in considering. In addition, the comments were prejudicial, thereby requiring reversal of this matter on appeal.

Finally, the errors individually and collectively prejudiced Jimenez. He respectfully requests that this Court reverse the conviction in this case and remand the matter for further proceedings.

### **ARGUMENT**

#### **POINT I. THE PROSECUTOR ENGAGED IN MISCONDUCT DURING HIS EXAMINATION OF DEFENSE WITNESSES. JIMENEZ WAS ENTITLED TO A NEW TRIAL AS A RESULT OF THE MISCONDUCT.**

The prosecutor in this case committed deliberate misconduct. He circumvented evidentiary rules and defied a pretrial order on four separate occasions in order to get information in front of the jury that it was not allowed to consider. As a result of the misconduct, Jimenez requested a new trial pursuant to Rule 24, Utah R. Crim P.

Rule 24 provides that a defendant may be entitled to a new trial "if there is any error or impropriety which had a substantial adverse effect upon the rights of a party." Utah R. Crim. P. 24(a) (2000). A trial court has discretion under Rule 24 to grant a new trial, and an appellate court will not disturb the trial court's ruling unless it appears the trial court has abused its discretion to the prejudice of the defendant. See State v. Smith, 776 P.2d 929, 931 (Utah App. 1989); see also State v. Harmon, 956 P.2d 262, 276 (Utah 1998) (quoting State v. Hay, 859 P.2d 1, 6 (Utah 1993)) (other cites omitted).

Prosecutorial misconduct may be grounds for a new trial. See State v. Owens, 753 P.2d 976 (Utah App. 1988). In determining whether prosecutorial misconduct has deprived defendant of a fair trial, Utah appellate courts have applied a two-part test:

[This test examines whether] "[1] [t]he actions or remarks of [the prosecutor] call to the attention of the jury a matter it would not be justified in considering in determining its verdict and, [2] if so, under the circumstances of the particular case, whether the error is substantial and prejudicial such that there is a reasonable likelihood that, in its absence, there would have been a more favorable result."

State v. Basta, 966 P.2d 260, 268 (Utah App. 1998) (quoting State v. Tenney, 913 P.2d 750, 754 (Utah App.), cert. denied, 923 P.2d 693 (Utah 1996)); State v. Troy, 688 P.2d 483, 486 (Utah 1984).

The first step is "clearly met" when the prosecutor has violated a pretrial order or evidentiary rules. See State v. Span, 819 P.2d 329, 335 (Utah 1991). The second part of the test is "more difficult." Id. It refers to the prejudice analysis. "If the prejudice is such that there is a reasonable likelihood the jury would have reached a more favorable

result absent the comments, we will reverse." State v. Pearson, 943 P.2d 1347, 1352 (Utah 1997). As set forth herein, Jimenez has met both parts of the test.

A. DURING WITNESS EXAMINATIONS, THE PROSECUTOR INTERJECTED IMPROPER INNUENDOS.

1. The Prosecutor's Statements and Suggestions.

Applying the first part of the test, the prosecutor in this case, Howard Lemcke, called the attention of jurors to matters they were not justified in considering. Specifically, on four separate occasions during trial, the prosecutor made improper statements and suggestions concerning Jimenez's character, as follows: (a) the prosecutor suggested to the jury that Jimenez used numerous aliases, (b) the prosecutor suggested that Jimenez had a violent history, (c) the prosecutor asserted during Monica's examination that Jimenez's possession of a gun was a crime "in and of itself," thereby suggesting to the jury that it should consider matters that were not properly before it, and (d) the prosecutor asked Monica if she assisted in "concealing" Jimenez from police, again suggesting to the jury that it should consider matters that were not properly before it.

Although the judge sustained each objection by the defense with respect to the improper matters, the rulings could not have had an effect on the jury. Specifically, with respect to the first and second matters, while an objection was recorded when the prosecutor made the improper statement, the judge did not rule on the matter until after the jury had been excused. (See R. 343:369; 344:469; 344:403; 344:472.) Consequently,

the jury was not aware that the objections had been sustained.

The timing of the ruling is relevant since the jury was instructed at the close of trial that if the court sustained an objection, the jury may not consider the matter. (R. 238.) Because the trial judge issued a ruling outside the presence of the jury, the jury was not aware that it could not consider the possibility that Jimenez used several aliases and/or had a violent past.

With respect to the third and fourth matters, although the judge sustained each objection while the jury was present, the judge did not attempt to cure the impropriety. The judge did not instruct the jury that it must disregard the prosecutor's statement that Jimenez's possession of a firearm was a crime "in and of itself," and that Jimenez concealed himself from authorities. Thus, the jury may have determined that even if Jimenez was innocent of the charged offenses, he was a bad man and may as well be punished now that he has been caught.

More specifically, the prosecutor engaged in improper conduct as follows.

(a) The prosecutor suggested that Jimenez used numerous aliases. After the state completed examination of its witnesses, the defense presented its case. The defense began by stating that it intended to call Dr. Robert Rothfeder to testify with respect to injuries Jimenez suffered when he was severely beaten in 1994, two years before the incident in this matter. (See R. 344:389-92.) According to the defense, Jimenez suffered a skull fracture, head injuries and arm fracture when he was assaulted in Los Angeles in

1994. (R. 344:386, 389-390.)

Also, the defense expected that Dr. Rothfeder would provide testimony as to what typically would occur physiologically when a person has been punched in the head. Dr. Rothfeder's testimony related to the state's evidence, which reflected the following: Immediately prior to the shooting, Rios punched Jimenez in the head knocking him to the ground. (R. 344:393-99.)

The defense intended that Dr. Rothfeder's testimony would support the determination that Jimenez was incapable of forming a criminal *mens rea* due to head injuries. Thus, Dr. Rothfeder's testimony was presented to support an acquittal in the matter.

In anticipation of Dr. Rothfeder's testimony, the defense called Jimenez to lay foundation for medical records relating to the injuries Jimenez suffered in the 1994 assault. The defense elicited testimony from Jimenez that when he suffered the earlier injuries, he provided an alias to the health care providers. He represented that his name was Antonio Sanchez. (R. 343:366.) Jimenez testified that he used the alias because he did not have money for hospital care. (R. 343:366.) Jimenez described the injuries he suffered in 1994 and he identified the medical records relating to the matter. (R. 343:368.)

Thereafter, during cross-examination, the prosecutor asked Jimenez the following: "So Mr. Jimenez, you admit you lied to the people who were providing you the medical care?" (R. 343:369.) Jimenez answered, "Yes." The prosecutor then asked, "[Y]ou used the name, what, Carlos Sanchez?" followed by, "These aren't the only other false names

that you've used, are they?" (R. 343:369.)

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