2000

Utah v. Jose Mario Jiminez : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Defendant's claims of prosecutorial misconduct fail. None of the instances of alleged misconduct were significant enough to call an improper matter to the jury's attention. Furthermore, none of the alleged misconduct, considered individually or collectively, was so substantial and prejudicial as to warrant a new trial.

ARGUMENT

I. THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION IN DENYING DEFENDANT'S MID-TRIAL MOTION FOR MISTRIAL WHERE NONE OF THE PROSECUTOR'S QUESTIONS ROSE TO THE LEVEL OF PROSECUTORIAL MISCONDUCT

Defendant claims that four questions asked by the prosecutor over the course of a four-day were so prejudicial to his case that the trial court abused its discretion in denying his mid-trial motion for mistrial. *See* Aplt. Br. at 10-34. However, none of the alleged errors were sufficiently substantial or prejudicial to warrant a new trial.

A. Defendant's claim that the State committed prosecutorial misconduct by blatantly violating the trial court's pre-trial order fails on the merits where it made no reference to defendant's prior bad acts during its case-in-chief.

Defendant claims that the State committed prosecutorial misconduct by "interject[ing] . . . improper, offensive information . . . [i]n blatant disregard" for the trial court's pre-trial ruling on his motion in limine. Aplt. Br. at 20. Defendant's claim fails, however, because the State did not violate the court's order at trial.

On April 23, 1999, defendant filed a Motion in Limine to Suppress Evidence of

Prior Convictions, requesting that evidence of prior offenses be excluded under rules 402, 403, and 609, Utah Rules of Evidence (R. 151-52, 155-56). Twice before trial, the State stipulated that it would not elicit any evidence concerning defendant's prior convictions or bad acts in its case-in-chief (R. 339:20; R. 343:173-75; Addendum A). However, both times, the State reserved the right to present such evidence if defendant "is going to bring in his character for being a peaceable person in the furtherance of a self-defense claim" (R. 193-94; R. 339:20; R. 343:169, 173-75; Add. A). Defendant accepted the stipulation (R. 339:20; Add. A). The court then ruled that it would take the State's motion under advisement, noting that if, in presenting his case, "Mr. Jiminez has placed his character at issue, . . . clearly the State would be entitled to rebut" (R. 343:175; Add. A).¹

Consistent with its prior stipulation and the trial court's pre-trial order, the State presented no evidence concerning defendant's prior convictions in its case-in-chief (R. 343:182-349). The State did not, therefore, violate the trial court's pre-trial order.

B. The impact on the jury in a four-day trial from four allegedly improper questions posed by the prosecutor, three of which went unanswered after objection, was not so substantial and prejudicial as to constitute prosecutorial misconduct requiring a new trial.

Defendant claims that the prosecutor "circumvented evidentiary rules . . . on four separate occasions in order to get information in front of the jury that it was not allowed

¹In the record, defendant's last name appears both as Jiminez and Jimenez. In this brief, the State will use the spelling, "Jiminez."

to consider.” Apl’t. Br. 10, 12. Defendant asserts that the prosecutor’s misconduct “was particularly contemptuous in this case” because, “in a deliberate fashion, the prosecutor interjected the improper, offensive information in an effort to influence and inflame the jury . . . [i]n blatant disregard of the rules.” Apl’t. Br. at 20.

In support of his claim, defendant identifies four questions asked by the prosecutor in cross examination during the second and third days of a four-day trial. *See* Apl’t. Br. at 13-18. Specifically, defendant challenges *one* question directed at defendant concerning his use of aliases; *one* question directed at his wife concerning whether she knew it was illegal for defendant to carry a concealed weapon; *one* question directed at his wife concerning whether she assisted that night in concealing defendant; and *one* question directed at his medical expert concerning other violence to which defendant may have been exposed in the past. *See* Apl’t. Br. at 13-18.

However, to succeed on his claim of prosecutorial misconduct, defendant must show *both* that the prosecutor called to the jury’s attention a matter it would not be justified in considering in reaching its verdict, *and* that, under the circumstances of this particular case, the prosecutor’s comments were so substantial and prejudicial that there is a reasonable likelihood that, absent the comments, the result of the trial would have been more favorable to defendant. *See State v. Kohl*, 2000 UT 35, ¶17, 999 P.2d 7; *State v. Pearson*, 943 P.2d 1347, 1352-53 (Utah 1997); *State v. Basta*, 966 P.2d 260, 268 (Utah App. 1998). Defendant has not done so here. Notwithstanding the emotionally-charged

language in defendant's brief, none of the prosecutor's questions constituted prosecutorial misconduct warranting a new trial under this test.

1. Proceedings below.

Defendant's use of aliases. Defendant was the first person to testify for the defense (R. 343:363). He did so in order to lay foundation for subsequent expert testimony concerning the effects of prior head trauma on how defendant would likely respond to being punched by Rios at the 7-Eleven (R. 343:349, 363-69).

In laying the necessary foundation, defendant explained that he had been robbed and attacked with clubs by three or four different people in 1994 (R. 343:371; Addendum B). The medical records produced from the attack, however, were in the name of Antonio Sanchez (R. 343:366; Add. B). Defendant explained that he had used an alias to procure medical treatment "[b]ecause I didn't have money to pay the bills" (R. 343:366; Add. B).

On cross-examination, the prosecutor asked: "These aren't the only other false names that you've used, are they?" (R. 343:369; Add. B). Before defendant could answer, his counsel objected and requested an unrecorded side-bar conference (*Id.*). Upon completion of the side-bar, the prosecutor did not renew his question concerning aliases (R. 343:369; Add. B). The prosecutor moved on to a different subject and did not revisit the issue at any time during the remaining two days of trial (R. 343:369; Add. B).

Defendant's violent history. Robert Keith Rothfeder, defendant's medical expert, testified that, because of the 1994 trauma, defendant would likely react more vigorously

to the 7-Eleven incident than would one who had suffered no prior head trauma (R. 344:382, 398-99).

On cross-examination, the prosecutor asked if defendant had given Rothfeder “any other history of violence that he has had” (R. 344:403; Addendum C). Defendant objected to the question and an off-the-record side-bar was held (*Id.*). After the trial court overruled defendant’s objection, the prosecutor reworded his question to address “other history of violence that [defendant’s] been involved in” (*Id.*). Rothfeder indicated that he had asked defendant about any other history of serious trauma and that defendant had indicated there was none (R. 344:404; Add. C). After Rothfeder’s response, the prosecutor did not revisit the issue of defendant’s violent history again throughout the remainder of the trial.

Defendant’s illegal possession of a concealed weapon. Defendant’s wife was the next witness called (R. 344:430). She testified that, on the night of the shooting, she and her husband had gone to Mi Mexico (R. 344:433). She explained that they didn’t get a chance to go out much with a nine-month-old child, and that, on that night, they stayed at the club for about four hours (R. 344:433). She testified that she did not see her husband with a gun until after he had been punched by Rios (R. 344:444).

On cross-examination, the prosecutor asked: “Did you know that the concealed weapon under that circumstance would be a crime in and of itself?” (R. 344:444; Addendum D). Before Ms. Jiminez could answer, defense counsel objected and

requested an unrecorded side-bar (*Id.*). The trial court then sustained defendant's objection on the record but declined defendant's request for a curative instruction (R. 344:445; Add. D). Defendant never placed on the record either the basis for his objection or the substance of the instruction he apparently requested.

The prosecutor revisited the subject matter of its question only in response to defendant's closing argument (R. 345:694; Add. D). In rebuttal, the prosecutor argued that the important question was not whether, as defendant had argued, defendant had a constitutional right to possess a firearm or not, but, rather, whether possession of the firearm at that particular time was probative of defendant's state of mind when he approached the white car (R. 345:694-95; Add. D).²

Defendant's flight. Also during cross-examination of Ms. Jiminez, the prosecutor asked whether she had participated in concealing defendant from the police after the shooting (R. 344:450; Addendum E). Defendant objected and outside the presence of the jury, the court explained that an answer to that question could be self-incriminating (R. 344:451; Add. E). Defendant stated: "If the question is what did she observe, I think that's a proper question" (R. 344:453; Add. E).

²In denying defendant's motion for a mistrial at the close of argument, the court ruled that, although arguing propensity to violate the law is a touchy area, the State could properly argue that defendant's possession of the concealed gun went to defendant's state of mind at the time of the confrontation and supported the inference that defendant was the aggressor (R. 345:708-10; Add. D). Defendant has not challenged this portion of the State's closing argument on appeal.

When the jury returned, the court stated: “I’ll sustain the objection that was made earlier by defense counsel and ask [the State] to move to a new line of questioning” (R. 344:477; Add. E). The prosecutor then questioned Ms. Jiminez regarding whether she observed defendant concealing himself to avoid arrest after the shooting (R. 344:477; Add. E).

Defendant moves for mistrial. During a break in Ms. Jiminez’s testimony, defendant moved for a mistrial (R. 344:455; Addendum F). Defendant argued that the State committed prosecutorial misconduct when it asked defendant whether he had used aliases other than Antonio Sanchez, when it asked defendant’s medical expert whether he was aware of any other prior violence with which defendant had been involved other than the alleged 1994 incident; and when it alluded to uncharged 404(b) evidence during its questioning of defendant’s wife (R. 344:456-57, 463; Add. F).

Defendant argued that the State’s question about defendant’s use of other aliases was improper innuendo because it was not supported by admissible evidence (R. 344:457; Add. F). Defendant challenged the State’s question to his medical expert on the same basis (R. 344:463; Add. F). In response, the State presented to court with State’s Exh. 9, an FBI rap sheet identifying various aliases used by defendant, as well as prior violent criminal acts committed by him (R. 344:459-60; State’s Exh. 9; Add. F). The State also argued that it “had the right to inquire about the basis for [the doctor’s] opinion” (R. 344:460; Add. F).

Defendant challenged the State's reference to defendant's illegally carrying a concealed weapon as improper because the State had not charged defendant with that crime (R. 344:458; Add. F). The State responded that the questions asked Ms. Jiminez were "not improper questioning in terms of uncharged criminal conduct" because the conduct was "part of this criminal episode. The fact that it is criminal doesn't mean we don't get to inquire about it" (R. 344:460-61; Add. F). Furthermore, the evidence is relevant to rebut defendant's claim that the victims were the aggressors in this case (R. 344:461; Add. F).

Motion denied. Ruling on the motion, the court agreed that, although there was a basis for it, the State's question regarding aliases was improper because it was not supported by admissible evidence (R. 344:469; Add. F). However, any prejudicial effect of the question "[was] mitigated somewhat by the fact that Mr. Jiminez had admitted on direct examination he used an alias and admitted on cross-examination he [had previously] lied and [given] his health care provider false information" (R. 344:470; Add. F). Thus, "the unfair harm to the defendant's case does not, based on that problem alone, require a mistrial" (R. 344:471; Add. F).

The court then ruled that whether defendant had brought the weapon to the store and concealed it "may go to his state of mind" and is thus relevant "in determining whether he or the assailants were the aggressors" (R. 344:471; Add. F). Regarding the question concerning the *illegality* of a concealed weapon, "I sustained the objection" and

no answer was given (R. 344:471-72; Add. F). Thus, “there wasn’t sufficient unfair harm to the defendant’s case such that a mistrial would be warranted” (R. 344:472; Add. F).

Finally, regarding the questioning of defendant’s medical expert, the court held that “[w]hether [defendant] had head injuries from any source that may have had this concussive impact was relevant” (R. 344:472; Add. F). Furthermore, defendant’s objection to the State’s reference to defendant’s violent behavior had been sustained (R. 344:472; Add. F). Thus, again, “there’s not enough unfair damage to Mr. Jiminez’ case based on that question to warrant a mistrial” (R. 344:472; Add. F). The court thus denied defendant’s motion (R. 344:470; Add. F).

Jury instructions. At the close of evidence, the jury was instructed to ignore all evidence to which an objection was sustained and any evidence offered but not admitted (R. 238; Instr. 6). “[Y]ou must not conjecture as to what the answer might have been or as to the reason for the objection” (*Id.*).

2. Standard of Review.

“Because the trial court is in the best position to determine an alleged error’s impact on the proceedings, [this Court] will not reverse a trial court’s denial of a mistrial motion based on prosecutorial misconduct absent an abuse of discretion.” *State v. Harmon*, 956 P.2d 262, 276 (Utah 1998); *see also State v. Hay*, 859 P.2d 1, 6 (Utah 1993). ““Unless a review of the record shows that the court’s decision is plainly wrong in that the incident so likely influenced the jury that the defendant cannot be said to have

had a fair trial, [this Court] will not find that the court's decision was an abuse of discretion.'" *Harmon*, 956 P.2d at 274-75 (quoting *State v. Robertson*, 932 P.2d 1219, 1231 (Utah 1997)).

3. Under facts of this case, the four challenged questions did not significantly call to the jury's attention any matter it would not be justified in considering in reaching its verdict.

Defendant asserts that the prosecutor's questions improperly placed before the jury evidence of defendant's bad acts and criminal conduct that the jury should not have considered in reaching its verdict. *See* Aplt. Br. at 19. However, defendant does not show how any of the questions challenged on appeal necessarily raises an improper inference that defendant himself had not already raised. *Cf. State v. Brown*, 998 S.W.2d 531, 547 (Mo.) (en banc) ("Unless the testimony objected to consists of clear evidence of another crime, there is no trial court abuse of discretion in denying a mistrial."), *cert. denied*, 120 S. Ct. 431 (1999).

First, it is pure conjecture whether the jury understood the question regarding the illegality of defendant's carrying a concealed weapon as indicating that defendant had a criminal past. *Cf. State v. Reed*, 2000 UT 68, ¶19, 8 P.3d 1025 (finding no prosecutorial misconduct where "it is extremely unlikely that the jury drew the inference [defendant] describes"). Furthermore, in the State's final rebuttal during closing argument, the State made clear to the jury that the illegality of defendant's conduct in having the gun was

irrelevant (R. 345:694). Thus, the State essentially argued that this was *not* a matter which the jury would be justified in considering in reaching its verdict. *See Kohl*, 2000 UT 35 at ¶17; *Pearson*, 943 P.2d at 1352-53; *Basta*, 966 P.2d at 268.³

Second, “[t]he use of an alias does not constitute clear evidence associating defendant with other crimes.” *Brown*, 998 S.W.2d at 547. Thus, the State’s reference alone would not have necessarily placed such evidence before the jury. *See Brown*, 998 S.W.2d at 547. Moreover, defendant’s use of aliases had already been put before the jury by his own testimony on direct that he had used an alias in 1994 to obtain free medical services (R. 343:366). Thus, the State’s question placed no issue before the jury that defendant had not already raised. *Cf. People v. Huynh*, 626 N.Y.S.2d 159, 160 (App. Div. 1995) (memorandum decision) (concluding that prosecutor could inquire further into aliases after defendant had opened the door and placed his credibility in issue by testifying that he used aliases because of confusion about his real name); *Chase v. State*, 541 P.2d 867, 870 (Okla. Crim. App. 1975) (holding that defendant opened door to

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